Maria D. Acosta; Vicente Montesinos On norm-attaining functionals

Acta Universitatis Carolinae. Mathematica et Physica, Vol. 47 (2006), No. 2, 5--24

Persistent URL: http://dml.cz/dmlcz/702113

Terms of use:

© Univerzita Karlova v Praze, 2006

Institute of Mathematics of the Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic provides access to digitized documents strictly for personal use. Each copy of any part of this document must contain these *Terms of use*.



This paper has been digitized, optimized for electronic delivery and stamped with digital signature within the project *DML-CZ: The Czech Digital Mathematics Library* http://project.dml.cz

On Norm-Attaining Functionals

MARÍA D. ACOSTA AND VICENTE MONTESINOS

Lotha

Received 20. March 2006

This is a short survey on norm-attaining functionals. The first part deals with some basic facts, most known. We streamline the proofs trying to convey some geometrical intuition. The second part focuses on some new facts concerning a problem of Namioka on renormings and norm-attaining functionals.

Contents

1	Introduction and notations	6
2	Some tools	7
	2.1 Simons inequality and some of its consequent	nces 7
3	When $A(X, \ \cdot\)$ is small	10
4	When $A(X, \ \cdot\)$ is big	13
	4.1 The isometric approach	13
	4.1.1 Using the norm topology	13
	4.1.2 Using some other topologies	16
	4.2 The isomorphic approach	17
	4.2.1 A conjecture of I. Namioka	18
5	Open problems	22

Departamento de Análisis Matemático, Universidad de Granada, 18071 Granada, Spain

Instituto de Matemática Pura y Aplicada Universidad Politécnica de Valencia, Spain

dacosta@ugr.es. Supported in part by D.G.E.S., Project BFM 2003-01681 (Spain).

vmontesinos@mat.upv.es. Research supported in part by Project BMF2002-01423 (Spain) and the Universidad Politécnica de Valencia.

1. Introduction and notations

Let $(X, \|\cdot\|)$ be a real Banach space, X^* its dual. We shall use the same symbol $\|\cdot\|$ for the the corresponding dual norm in X^* if there is no risk of misunderstand-ing. We shall denote, as usual, $B_{(X,\|\cdot\|)}$ the closed unit ball and $S_{(X,\|\cdot\|)}$ the unit sphere of $(X, \|\cdot\|)$. If the norm $\|\cdot\|$ is understood we shall speak about the Banach space X. If S is a subset of X, conv (S) stands for its convex hull, $\overline{\operatorname{conv}}(S)$ its closed hull, $\Gamma(S)$ its absolutely convex hull (i.e., the convex hull of the circled hull of S) and $\overline{\Gamma}(S)$ its closed absolutely convex hull.

If a subset $K \subset X$ is w-compact then it is bounded and every element $x^* \in X^*$ surely attains its supremum on K. If K is not w-compact, we cannot expect that every element in X^* should attain its supremum on K. A fundamental result in weak compactness says that a closed convex and bounded subset C of X is w-compact if and only if every $x^* \in X^*$ attains its supremum on it [Jai], [Jat]. A number of consequences follow from this important result. For example, the Krein-Milman and the Eberlein-Šmulyan Theorems can be easily deduced from it, as well as the following characterization of reflexivity: A Banach space X is reflexive iff every element $x^* \in X^*$ attains its supremum on B_X .

Most of the time we shall be interested in the unit ball B_X of $(X, \|\cdot\|)$. The set of elements $x^* \in X^*$ which attain their supremum on B_X (i.e., its norm) is denoted by A(X), or by $A(X, \|\cdot\|)$ if we want to signify the norm on X. It is, certainly, a cone in X with vertex at 0. James Theorem for the unit ball of X says then that a Banach space is reflexive if (and only if) $A(X, \|\cdot\|) = X^*$. It is remarkable that $A(X, \|\cdot\|)$ is always $\|\cdot\|$ -dense in X* [BP]. This result plays also a key role in the Theory (for the failure in the complex case, see [Loq], [Loi] and [Loj]). This survey focuses on the "size" of the sets $A(X, \|\cdot\|)$ and its complement $CA(X, \|\cdot\|) := X^* \setminus A(X, \|\cdot\|)$. The set $A(X, \|\cdot\|)$ depends strongly on the norm, so much that by changing it to an equivalent one it can be completely different, both in shape and in "size". The following problem has been raised several times even in this Winter School (by V. Zizler and V. Montesinos): assume that a Banach space has the property that all $x^* \in X^*$ attain their norm on $B_{(X,\|\cdot|)}$. Let $\|\cdot\|$ be an equivalent norm on X. Is the corresponding statement for $(X, ||| \cdot |||)$ true, i.e., does every element $x^* \in X^*$ attains $|||x^*|||$ on $B_{(X, ||\cdot||)}$? Formulated in this way it is not a "problem" at all: we know from James Theorem that then X is reflexive so the answer is, immediately, "yes". The point is to prove the statement by a "simple" geometric argument not depending on James Theorem. This will provide an easier proof of this not-easy-at-all-to-prove result (we may at this moment remark that James provided an accessible proof for the case of separable Banach spaces (see [Ja72]). Simons isolated the combinatorial mechanism in his "Simons inequality", G. Godefroy's "favorite inequality in Analysis" (see, for example, [Gos]). A simple proof of Simons inequality has been given by E. Oja [Oj], and it is recorded in [FHH, Thm. 3.47]). The general result has a very delicate

proof (see the paper [Jat], Floret's version in [Fl] and a recent approach by M. Morillon in [Mor]).

An instance of the drastic change in the set $A(X, \|\cdot\|)$ when going to an equivalent norm is worked out below: the set $A(\ell_1, \|\cdot\|_1)$ which has a nonempty $\|\cdot\|_{\infty}$ -interior in ℓ_{∞} (the norm-interior of a set M will be denoted by M^0). However, there is an equivalent norm on ℓ_1 , say $\|\cdot\|$, such that $A^0(\ell_1, \|\cdot\|) = \emptyset$ (see Theorem 23). This was the starting point for providing an (almost) complete solution to Namioka's problem (see 4.2.1 below and the preprint [AM]).

2. Some tools

2.1 Simons inequality and some of its consequences

Simons inequality is an important tool in the geometry of Banach spaces. It originates in Simon's analysis of James' proof of his weak compactness characterization. It is difficult to give an account of the broad scope of its applications. We refer, for example, to [DGZ, Ch. I.3], [FHH, Ch. 3] and [Gos]. For a proof we refer to [Oj] (see, also, [FHH, Lemma 3.47]). Let's recall the main result. $(\ell_{\infty}(B), \|\cdot\|_{\infty})$ is the space of all real and bounded functions defined on a non-empty set B, equipped with the supremum norm $\|\cdot\|_{\infty}$. Given a bounded set A in a Banach space X we denote by sconv(A) the set $\{\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \lambda_n a_n : a_n \in A, \lambda_n \ge 0 \text{ for all } n \in \mathbb{N}, \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \lambda_n = 1\}$ and we call it the supremove envelope of A.

Lemma 1 (Simons inequality). Let B be a non-empty set. Let (x_n) be a bounded sequence in $(\ell_{\infty}(\mathcal{B}), \|\cdot\|_{\infty})$ such that every element of sconv $\{x_n : n \in \mathbb{N}\}$ attains the supremum on B. Let $u := \limsup x_n$. Then

$$\sup u(B) \ge \inf_{x \in \operatorname{conv}\{x_n: n \in \mathbb{N}\}} \sup x(B).$$
(1)

A simple consequence is also useful:

Corollary 2. Let X be a Banach space and let A and B be two bounded subsets in X* such that $B \subset A$. Let (x_n) be a bounded sequence of X and assume that every element of $\overline{\text{conv}} \{x_n : n \in \mathbb{N}\}$ attains its supremum on A at some point of B. Let $u := \limsup x_n$. Then

$$\sup u(B) = \sup u(A).$$

Proof. Assume $\sup u(B) < \alpha < \sup u(A)$ for some α . Find $a \in A$ such that $u(a) > \alpha$. We may and do assume that $x_n(a) > \alpha$ for all n. Given $x \in \operatorname{conv} \{x_n : n \in \mathbb{N}\}$ we have $x(a) > \alpha$, hence $\sup x(A) > \alpha$ for all $x \in \operatorname{conv} \{x_n : n \in \mathbb{N}\}$. We get

$$\inf_{\substack{\in \operatorname{conv}\{x_n:n\in\mathbb{N}\}}} \sup x(B) \ge \alpha > \sup u(B),$$

a contradiction with (1).

7

It is possible to give a simple (and still useful) estimate for the distance (in the corresponding norm in the bidual) from an element $x^{**} \in X^{**}$ to X by computing values of x^{**} on the unit ball of $(X^*, ||| \cdot |||)$ for some equivalent norm. Precisely

$$\operatorname{dist}(x^{**}, X) \leq 2 \sup \langle x^{**}, \overline{B}_Y^{w^*} \rangle,$$

where $Y := \text{Ker } x^{**}$. This was obtained from the parallel hyperplane Lemma (see, for example, [FMZ]). In the separable setting another estimate comes from inequality (1); we state and prove it in Lemma 4. Recall that $\partial \|\cdot\|(x) :=$:= $\{x^* \in B_{X^*} : \langle x, x^* \rangle = \|x\|\}$ for all $x \in X$; this set is called the *subdifferential* of the norm at x. The following simple proposition is standard; it will be used in the proof of Lemma 4.

Proposition 3. Let X be a Banach space. Then, given $x, y \in X$, we have $d^+ || \cdot || (x)(y) = \sup \langle y, \partial || \cdot || (x) \rangle$, where $d^+ || \cdot || (x)(y)$ denotes the right derivative of the norm at x in the direction y.

For a proof see, for example, [Phl, Prop. 2.4].

Remark. Notice that a consequence of Proposition 3 is that $\|\cdot\|$ in X^{**} is differentiable at some $0 \neq x \in X$ in the direction $x^{**} \in X^{**}$ if and only if $\inf_{\alpha>0} \operatorname{Osc} (x^{**}, S(x, \alpha)) = 0$, where $S(x, \alpha) := \{x^* \in B_{X^*} : \langle x, x^* \rangle > \|x\| - \alpha\}$ and $\operatorname{Osc} (x^{**}, M)$ denotes the oscillation of x^{**} on the set $M \subset X^*$. This is easily seen by observing that $\partial \|\cdot\|(x) = \bigcap_{\alpha>0} \overline{S(x, \alpha)}^{**}$ (here $\partial \|\cdot\|(x)$ is the Fréchet differential of $\|\cdot\|$ in X^{**} at x, i.e., a subset of $S_{X^{***}}$, and $S(x, \alpha) := \{x^* \in B_{X^*} : \langle x, x^* \rangle > \|x\| - \alpha\}$).

Then we have

Lemma 4 ([AR1, Lemma 4]). Let X be a separable Banach space. Assume that there exists $x_0^* \in S_{X^*}$ and some r > 0 such that $x_0^* + rB_{X^*} \subset A(X, \|\cdot\|)$. Then, for all $x_0 \in S_X$ such that $\langle x_0, x_0^* \rangle = 1$ we have

$$\langle x^{**}, x_0^* \rangle + r \operatorname{dist} (x^{**}, X) \le \sup \langle x^{**}, \partial \| \cdot \| (x_0) \rangle, \tag{2}$$

where the subdifferential is calculated in X^{***} .

Proof. The conclusion is trivial for elements $x^{**} \in X$, so we shall assume $x^{**} \in X^{**} \setminus X$. We shall prove first that

$$\langle x^{**}, x_0^* \rangle + r \operatorname{dist}(x^{**}, X) \le ||x^{**}||.$$
 (3)

Noticing that $d := \operatorname{dist}(x^{**}, X) = ||q(x^{**})||$, where $y : X^{**} \to X^{**}/X$ is the canonical mapping, we can find $x^{\perp} \in S_{X^{\perp}} \subset X^{***}$ such that $d = \langle x^{**}, x^{\perp} \rangle$. As X is separable we can find a sequence (x_n^*) in B_{X^*} which converges to x^{\perp} on $X \cup \{x^{**}\}$. Fix $\varepsilon > 0$. We may then assume $\langle x^{**}, x_n^* \rangle \ge \langle x^{**}, x_n^{\perp} \rangle - \varepsilon = d - \varepsilon$ for all n. We shall apply Lemma 1 to the sequence $(x_0^* + rx_{nn=1}^{*\circ})$ and the set

 $B := B_X$. From now on we work in $\ell_{\infty}(B)$. Obviously, $u := \limsup (x_0^* + rx_n^*) = x_0^*$. From (1) we get

$$1 = \sup x_0^*(B) \ge \inf_{x^* \in \operatorname{conv} \{x_0^* + rx_n^*\}} \sup x^*(B) = \inf_{x^* \in \operatorname{conv} \{x_0^* + rx_n^*\}} \|x^*\|.$$
(4)

We also have, for all n,

$$\left\langle \frac{x^{**}}{\|x^{**}\|}, x_0^* + rx_n^* \right\rangle \ge \frac{1}{\|x^{**}\|} (\langle x^{**}, x_0^* \rangle + r(d-\varepsilon)).$$

This applies also to every element $x^* \in \operatorname{conv} \{x_0^* + rx_n^*\}$, so

$$||x^*|| \ge \frac{1}{||x^{**}||} (\langle x^{**}, x_0^* \rangle + r(d - \varepsilon))$$

and we obtain from (4)

$$1 \ge \frac{1}{\|x^{**}\|} (\langle x^{**}, x_0^* \rangle + r(d - \varepsilon)),$$

from what (3) follows letting ε tend to 0.

In order to prove (2), fix $x_0 \in S_X$ such that $\langle x_0, x_0^* \rangle = 1$. For t > 0 apply (3) to $x_0 + tx^{**}$ to obtain

$$\langle x_0 + tx^{**}, x_0^* \rangle + r \operatorname{dist} (x_0 + tx^{**}, X) \le ||x_0 + tx^{**}||,$$

i.e.,

$$1 + t \langle x^{**}, x_0^* \rangle + rtd \le ||x_0 + tx^{**}||$$

We get

$$\langle x^{**}, x_0^* \rangle + rd \leq \frac{\|x_0 + tx^{**}\| - \|x_0\|}{t}.$$

Letting $t \downarrow 0$ we get

$$\langle x^{**}, x_0^* \rangle + rd \leq d^+ \| \cdot \| (x_0) (x^{**}).$$

In order to obtain (2) it is enough now to apply Proposition 2.

Remark. Some facts follow from the estimates (2) and (1). For example

- If x** attains the supremum on B_{X*} at some norm-interior element of A(X, ||·||), then x**∈ X. In other words, the face of B_{X**} defined by some element x* ∈ A⁰(X, ||·||) is contained in X. This ensures reflexivity of a separable X such that A(X, ||·||) = X*, proving James' Theorem in the separable case.
- Let (X, || · ||) be a Banach space such that A(X, || · ||) has non-empty interior (in norm). Then, every sequence (x^{*}_n) in a convex || · ||-open subset O of A(X, || · ||) which is w*-null is w-null. In order to prove it, assume, on the contrary, that (x^{*}_n) is not w-null. Then, by passing to a subsequence if

 \square

necessary, we can find $x^{**} \in S_{X^{**}}$ and some $\varepsilon > 0$ such that $\langle x^{**}, x_n^* \rangle > \varepsilon$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. From now on, everything will be done in $\ell^{\infty}(B_X)$. The set O is $\|\cdot\|$ -open and convex, hence superconvex, and it is contained in $A(X, \|\cdot\|)$. Put $u := \limsup x_n^*$. This is just 0. By Simons inequality (1) we have

$$0 \geq \inf_{\substack{x^* \in \operatorname{conv}\left\{x_n^*\right\}_n^+ = 1}} \sup x^* (B_X).$$
(5)

Notice that for $x^* \in \operatorname{conv} \{x_{n}^{*+\infty}\}_{n=1}$ we have $\langle x^{**}, x^* \rangle \geq \varepsilon$. It follows that $\sup x^*(B_X)(=\sup x^*(B_{X^{**}})) \geq \varepsilon$, and we reach a contradiction with (5).

3. When $A(X, \|\cdot\|)$ is small

Take the separable Banach space $(c_0, \|\cdot\|_{\infty})$. It is very easy to show that $A(c_0, \|\cdot\|_{\infty})$ is the subspace $\varphi \subset \ell_1$ of all elements in ℓ_1 with finite support. This set is the union of a countable number of finite-dimensional subspaces of ℓ_1 , so it is 1st category (in particular $CA(c_0, \|\cdot\|_{\infty})$ is dense and $A(c_0, \|\cdot\|_{\infty})$ has empty interior) in $(\ell_1 \|\cdot\|_1)$.

The closed unit ball of $(c_0, \|\cdot\|_{\infty})$ is not dentable, i.e., we cannot produce sections of arbitrary small diameter. In fact, every section of $B_{(c_0,\|\cdot\|_{\infty})}$ has norm-diameter 2. It is not by chance that we chose c_0 as an example of how small the set $A(X, \|\cdot\|)$ can be: in fact, all separable Banach spaces sharing this property with $(c_0, \|\cdot\|_{\infty})$ (i.e., having non-dentable closed unit balls) behave in the same way: the set $A(X, \|\cdot\|)$ is 1st category in $(X^*, \|\cdot\|)$. This result is due to Bourgain and Stegall (see, for example, [Bou, Thm. 3.5.5]). The proof needs two very useful geometric lemmata. The first one, due to Phelps, has been called *the parallel hyperplane lemma*:

Lemma 5 (Parallel-hyperplane). Let X be a Banach space and x^* and y^* two norm-one elements in X^* such that, for some $\delta \ge 0$ we have $|\langle x, y^* \rangle| \le \delta$ for every $x \in B_X \cap Ker x^*$. Then $||x^* - y^*|| \le 2\delta$ or $||x^* + y^*|| \le 2\delta$.



Figure 1: The Parallel Hyperplane Lemma

For a simple proof we refer to [FHH, Ex. 3.1]. This result has been recently extended to the setting of multilinear forms [ACGZ].

The second one is due to Bourgain and Namioka and is frequently referred as the *Superlemma*. We provide a version of the statement equivalent, as it is easy to prove, to the original one (see, for example, [Dies]), although easier to visualize:

Lemma 6 (Superlemma). Let X be a Banach space. Let A and B be two closed convex and bounded subsets of X such that $B \neq A$ and diam $(B) < \varepsilon$ for some $\varepsilon > 0$. Thes there exists a slice S of $\overline{\operatorname{conv}}(A \cup B)$ intersecting B and with diam $(S) < \varepsilon$.



Figure 2: The Superlemma

Theorem 7 (Bourgain, Stegall, see [Bou, Thm. 3.5.5]). Let K be a separable closed, bounded, convex and non-dentable subset of a Banach space X. Then, the set of all elements in X^* attaining their suprema on K is 1^{st} category in $(X^*, || \cdot ||)$.

Proof. There exists some $\delta > 0$ such that every slice of K has a diameter $\geq 3d$. Let $\{x_n : n \in \mathbb{N}\}$ be a dense subset of K. Define, for $n \in \mathbb{N}$,

 $O_n := \{x^* \in X^* : x^* \text{ defines a slice of } K \text{ disjoint from } B(x_n; \delta) \cap K \}.$

Obviously, O_n is norm-open for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$, and $A(K, \|\cdot\|) \subset X^* \setminus \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} O_n$. It is enough to prove that, for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$, O_n is norm-dense. To that end, fix $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $x^* \in X^*$ and let $0 < \varepsilon < 1$ be arbitrary. We shall prove that there exists $y^* \in O_n$ such that $\|x^* - y^*\| < \varepsilon$. Observe first that O_n is closed under multiples by positive scalars, so we may henceforth assume $\|x^*\| = 1$. Pick $y \in X$ such that $\langle x - y, x^* \rangle > 0$ for $x \in K$ and let $M := \sup \{\|x - y\| : x \in K\}$. Choose $t \ge 2M/\varepsilon$, let $V := \operatorname{Ker} x^* \cap B(0; t)$ and C := V + y. Apply Lemma 6 to the sets $B(x_n; \delta) \cap K$ and C to obtain a slice of $\overline{\operatorname{conv}} \{ (B(x_n; \delta) \cap K) \cup C \}$ intersecting $B(x_n; \delta) \cap K$ and having diameter $< 3\delta$. If $K \subset \overline{\operatorname{conv}} \{ (B(x_n; \delta) \cap K) \cup C \}$ we should obtain a slice of K of diameter $< 3\delta$, a contradiction. It follows that there exists $x_0 \in K \setminus \overline{\operatorname{conv}} \{ (B(x_n; \delta) \cap K) \cup C \}$. It is enough now to separate x_0 and $\overline{\operatorname{conv}} \{ (B(x_n; \delta) \cap K) \cup C \}$ using some $y^* \in S_{X^*}$; this element obviously belongs to O_n and Lemma 5 gives $||x^* - y^*|| \le \varepsilon$.

Remark. To our knowledge, it is not known whether Theorem 7 holds without the separability assumption.

Another result in the same vein was obtained by Talagrand (see [Bou, p. 58]) and Kenderov, Moors and Sciffer [KMS]:



Figure 3: Prof of Theorem 7

Theorem 8 (Talagrand, Kenderov, Moors, Sciffer). Let K be an infinite compact topological space. Then $A(C(K), \|\cdot\|_{\infty})$ is 1^{st} category in $C(K)^*$.

There is a kind of converse. Recall that a subset M of a Banach space X has the Radon-Nikodým Property (RNP, in short) if every closed, bounded and convex subset of M is dentable.

Theorem 9 ([Bou, Cor. 3.5.7]). Let C be a closed convex subset of a Banach space X. Then, the following are equivalent:

- 1. C has RNP.
- 2. Every (non empty) closed convex and bounded subset K of C satisfies

$$K = \overline{\operatorname{conv}} \left(\operatorname{str.} \exp \left(K \right) \right),$$

where str. exp(K) denotes the set of strongly exposed points of K.

3. Every (non empty) closed convex and bounded subset K of C satisfies that the set of elements in X^* attaining their suprema on K is 2^{nd} category.

Remark. Obviously, if $A(X, \|\cdot\|)$ is 1st category then $CA(X, \|\cdot\|)$ is dense and $A(X, \|\cdot\|)$ has an empty norm-interior.

4. When $A(X, \|\cdot\|)$ is big

4.1 The isometric approach

4.1.1 Using the norm topology

We fix a norm on a Banach space X. As every metric concept used here refers to this norm, we will omit $\|\cdot\|$ from the subsequent expressions. So, for example, A(X) will denote the set of elements in X^* attaining their norms on the closed unit ball B_X of X.

In some sense, the set $A(X, \|\cdot\|)$ is always big. This is the content of the Bishop-Phelps Theorem:

Theorem 10 (Bishop-Phelps [BP]). For every Banach space $(X, \|\cdot\|)$, the set $A(X, \|\cdot\|)$ is always norm-dense in X^* .

If A(X) is as large as possible, the space is already reflexive. This is James Theorem:

Theorem 11 (James [Jaa]). Let X be a Banach space. Then, X is reflexive if (and only if) $A(X) = X^*$.

Let us try to obtain a similar result by diminishing the requirements. We can state that X is reflexive if 0 belongs to the norm-interior of A(X). However, this is not an improvement: A(X) is a cone. As soon as 0 belongs to its norm-interior we have $A(X) = X^*$ and we are in James Theorem' setting.

A naive conjecture is that A(X) having a non-empty norm-interior will be sufficient for the reflexivity of X. Maybe a sort of translation will force then 0 to be a norm-interior point of A(X). That this (dramatically) fails can be seen by the (very easy to prove) fact that every Banach space has an equivalent norm such that, in this new norm, A(X) has a non-empty norm interior (see [AR1]). Right now we can state the following result.

Proposition 12. Let X be a Banach space such that $B_X = \overline{\Gamma}(E)$ for some subset $E \subset X$. Assume that there exist $e_0^* \in S_{X^*}$ and $e_0 \in E$ such that $\langle e_0, e_0^* \rangle >$ > $\sup \{\langle e, e_0^* \rangle : e \in E \setminus \{e_0\}\}$ (such a point e_0 is called a strong vertex). Then, e_0^* is in the norm-interior of A(X).

Proof. It is obvious that if $||x^* - e_0^*||$ is small enough, then x^* still attains its norm (at the same point e_0).

Remark. $(\ell_1, \|\cdot\|_1)$ has this property (and is not reflexive). We shall see later (see Proposition 20) that every Banach space can be renormed to satisfy the condition in Proposition 12.

It is remarkable that a special kind of norm-open subset of the set $A(X, \|\cdot\|)$ forces the space to be reflexive.

Proposition 13 (Jiménez-Sevilla, Moreno [JiM]). Let $(X, \|\cdot\|)$ be a Banach space. Assume that $A(X, \|\cdot\|)$ contains a section $S(x^{**}; \delta) := \{x^* \in B_{X^*}; \langle x^{**}, x^* \rangle > 1 - \delta\}$ for some $x^{**} \in S_{X^{**}}$ and $\delta > 0$. Then X is reflexive.

The key idea of the proof of this result is to use in the dual the (dual) norm whose unit ball is given by



Figure 4: The new dual ball in Proposition 13

where the element $x_0^* \in X^*$ satisfies that $|x_0^*| < 1$ and $x^{**}(x_0^*) > 1 - \frac{\delta}{2}$ and then apply James' Theorem.

It is natural now to look at the denting points of the unit ball of the dual in order to obtain characterizations of reflexivity in terms of the set of norm-attaining functionals. This is why we focus on two special properties. Recall first that a point $x \in S_{(X,\|\cdot\|)}$ is *denting* if for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists $x^* \in S_{(X^*,\|\cdot\|)}$ defining a slice of $B_{(X,\|\cdot\|)}$ which contains x and has diameter $< \varepsilon$. Similarly, a point $x^* \in S_{(X^*,\|\cdot\|)}$ is w^* -denting if for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists $x \in S_{(X,\|\cdot\|)}$ defining a slice of $B_{(X^*,\|\cdot\|)}$ which contains x^* and has diameter $< \varepsilon$.

Definition 14. A Banach space $(X, \|\cdot\|)$ has the Mazur Intersection Property (in short, MIP) whenever every closed convex and bounded subset of X is an intersection of closed balls. A dual Banach space X^* has the w*-Mazur Intersection Property (in short, w*-MIP) whenever every convex and w*-compact subset is an intersection of closed balls.

MIP has been characterized by Giles, Gregory and Sims [GGS] in the following terms: a Banach space $X, \|\cdot\|$) has MIP if the only if the set of w*-denting points of $B_{(X^*,\|\cdot|)}$ is dense is $S_{(X^*,\|\cdot\|)}$. Similarly, a dual Banach space $(X^*,\|\cdot\|)$ has w*-MIP if and only if the set of denting points of $B_{(X,\|\cdot\|)}$ is dense in $S_{(X,\|\cdot\|)}$ [GGS]. With this characterizations at hand, it is now obvious that if $(X,\|\cdot\|)$ has MIP then $(X^{**},\|\cdot\|)$ has w*-MIP. It is also clear (use the Bishop-Phelps Theorem and the Smulyan characterization of Fréchet differentiability) that every Banach space with a Fréchet differentiable norm has MIP [Ph].

We have the following renorming characterization of reflexivity:

Theorem 15 (Jiménez-Sevilla, Moreno [JiM]). Let $(X, \|\cdot\|)$ be a Banach space. Then the following are equivalent:

- (i) X is reflexive.
- (ii) There exists in X an equivalent norm $||| \cdot |||$ with MIP and such that $A(X, ||| \cdot |||)$ has non-empty norm-interior.
- (iii) There exists in X an equivalent norm $||| \cdot |||$ such that $(X^{**}, ||| \cdot |||)$ has w*-MIP $A(X, ||| \cdot |||)$ has non-empty norm-interior.

Proof. $(i) \Rightarrow (ii)$ follows from the classical Troyanski's renorming theorem: there exists an equivalent dual LUR norm $||| \cdot |||$ in X^* , so the corresponding norm $||| \cdot |||$ in X is Fréchet differentiable; hence $(X, ||| \cdot |||)$ has MIP (and it is reflexive, so $A(X, ||| \cdot |||) = X^*$). $(ii) \Rightarrow (iii)$ is obvious. $(iii) \Rightarrow (i)$. If $(X^{**}, ||| \cdot |||)$ has w*-MIP then the set of denting points of $S_{(X^*, ||\cdot|||)}$ is dense. At least one of them is in the norm-interior of $A(X, ||| \cdot |||)$, hence there exists a slice of $B_{X^*, ||\cdot||)}$ inside $A(X, ||| \cdot |||)$. It is enough to apply now Proposition 13.

Definition 16. A Banach space $(X, \|\cdot\|)$ is very smooth if the duality mapping $x \to \partial \|\cdot\| (x)$ from $X \setminus \{0\}$ into S_{X^*} is $\|\cdot\|$ -w-continuous.

This definition is due to Diestel and Faires [DF]. They proved, for example, that if X^{**} is very smooth then the space X is reflexive (see, for example, [Dieg]).

The following result gives, in the separable case, another characterization of reflexivity in terms of the set of norm-attaining functionals, now using the property of being very smooth.

Theorem 17 (Acosta, Ruiz-Galán [AR1]). Let $(X, ||\cdot||)$ be a separable Banach space. Then the following are equivalent:

- (i) X is reflexive.
- (ii) There exists an equivalent norm $||| \cdot |||$ in X such that $(X, ||| \cdot |||)$ is very smooth and $A(X, ||| \cdot |||)$ has a non-empty norm-interior.

Proof. $(i) \Rightarrow (ii)$ is obvious. $(ii) \Rightarrow (i)$: Let $x_0^* \in A^0(X, \|\cdot\|)$, $\|x_0^*\| = 1$. Let $x_0 \in S_{(X, \|\cdot\|)}$ be such that $\langle x_0, x_0^* \rangle = 1$. If $(X, \|\cdot\|)$ is very smooth, $\partial \|\cdot\|(x_0) \subset S_{(X^{***}, \|\cdot\|)}$ consists of only one point, namely x_0^* . Then use inequality (2) to conclude that $x^{**} \in X$ for every $x^{**} \in X^{**}$, so X is reflexive.

By [AR2, Thm. 1], the previous characterization also holds in general.

4.1.2 Using some other topologies

The use of the w^* topology in the evaluation of "how big" the set $A(X, \|\cdot\|)$ is gives way to some other sufficient conditions for reflexivity. Debs, Godefroy and Saint-Raymond produced the following result. We shall omit its proof as it was exteded by Jiménez-Sevilla and Moreno to non-necessarily-separable Banach spaces.

Theorem 18 (Debs, Godefroy, Saint-Raymond [DGS]). Let $(X, \|\cdot\|)$ be a separable Banach space such that $A(X, \|\cdot\|)$ has a non-empty w*-interior. Then X is reflexive.

Theorem 19 (Jiménez-Sevilla, Moreno [JiM]). Given a Banach space X, either the set $C := S_{(X^*,\|\cdot\|)} \setminus A(X, \|\cdot\|)$ is w*-dense in $S_{X^*,\|\cdot\|)}$ or X is reflexive. Also, in the first case, $\overline{\operatorname{conv}}^{\|\cdot\|}(C) = B_{(X^*,\|\cdot\|)}$.

In order to prove the first assertion, it is assumed that C is not w^* -dense in the unit sphere of the dual. Then the key idea is to use the dual norm whose unit ball is given by

$$U:=(W-y_0^*)\cap(y_0^*-W),$$

where W is a w*-closed set given by an intersection of slices of the dual unit ball and y_0^* is a certain element in the norm interior of W. Then it is shown that for this new norm the assumption of James' Theorem is satisfied. For the second part, if $\overline{\operatorname{conv}}^{\|\cdot\|}(C)$ were a proper set of the dual unit ball, then Proposition 13 can be applied and X will be reflexive, a contradiction.



Figure 5: The new dual ball in Theorem 19

4.2 The isomorphic approach

We can trace the origin of James' characterization of reflexivity in an earlier work by Klee: he proved [Kl] that a Banach space X, with the property that for each equivalent norm $||| \cdot |||$ we have $A(X, ||| \cdot |||) = X^*$, is reflexive. Of course, this was superseded by the theorem of James. However, we shall return to Klee's original approach (i.e., allowing equivalent norms) asking less in order to obtain reflexivity.

First of all, it is an elementary (and known) fact that every Banach space can be renormed to have a set of norm-attaining functionals with a non-empty interior. This is made precise in the following

Proposition 20. Let $(X, \|\cdot\|)$ be a Banach space. Take $e_0 \in X \setminus B_{(X, \|\cdot\|)}$. Then there exists an equivalent norm $\|\|\cdot\|\|$ in X such that $e_0 \in S_{(X, \|\cdot\|\|)}$ is a strong vertex of $B_{(X, \|\cdot\|)}$. In particular, the set $A(X, \|\|\cdot\|\|)$ has a non-empty norm-interior.

Proof. Define the ball of the new norm $||| \cdot |||$ as conv $\{B_{[X, \|\cdot\|)} \cup \{\pm e_0\}\}$. It is

obvious then that e_0 is a strong vertex of the new norm (take a functional $x^* \in X^*$ strongly separating $\{e_0\}$ and $B_{(X,\|\cdot\|)}$; then x^* attains the supremum on $B_{(X,\|\cdot\|)}$ precisely at e_0). Apply now Proposition 12.



Figure 6: The new unit ball in Proposition 20

It is plain now that, in a very dramatic way, the conjecture that having a non-empty norm-open set of norm-attaining functionals is not enough for reflexivity.

4.2.1 A conjecture of I. Namioka

I. Namioka, in a seminar hold in Murcia (Spain) in 1999, posed the following problem:

Assume $(X, \|\cdot\|)$ is a Banach space such that for every equivalent norm $\|\|\cdot\|\|$ the set $A(X, \|\|\cdot\|\|)$ has a non-empty norm interior. Is then X reflexive?

No answer was known even for separable Banach spaces.

There were early attempts to solve this problem. A partial answer was given in the following.

Theorem 21 (Acosta, Ruiz-Galán [AR1]). Let $(X, \|\cdot\|)$ be a separable Banach space. If X is not weakly sequentially complete then there exists an equivalent norm $\|\|\cdot\|\|$ such that $A^{0}(X, \|\|\cdot\|\|) = \emptyset$.

The theorem relies heavily on a renorming result of Godefroy. Precisely, when studying rough norms in Banach spaces, he proved the following result (part of a broader one, see [Gom, Thm. I.2]):

Theorem 22 (Godefroy, [Gom]). Let $(X, \|\cdot\|)$ be a separable Banach space. Let $x^{**} \in X^{**} \setminus X$ such that there exists a sequence (x_n) in X which w*-converges to x^{**} . Then there exists an equivalent norm $||| \cdot |||$ on X such that the corresponding norm $||| \cdot |||$ on X^{**} is differentiable in the direction x^{**} at every point $x \in X$.

Proof. Let (d_n) be a dense sequence in B_X . The norm

$$\|x^*\|_1 := \|x^*\| + \left(\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} 2^{-k} \langle d_k, x^* \rangle^2\right)^{1/2}, \quad x^* \in X^*,$$
(6)

is an equivalent strictly convex dual norm in X^* . We define now a second equivalent dual norm $|\| \cdot \| = 0$ on X^* by the formula

$$|||x^*||| := ||x^*||_1 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} 2^{-n} \sup_{k,l \ge n} |\langle x_k - x_l, x^* \rangle|.$$
(7)

The norm $\|\cdot\|_1$ is strictly convex. It follows that $\|\|\cdot\|\|$ is strictly convex, too. Hence $\|\|\cdot\|\|$ is the dual norm of a smooth norm at S_X . If we can show that

$$|||x_i^*|| \le 1, \quad |||x^*||| = 1, \quad x_i^* \xrightarrow{w^*} x^*$$
 (8)

implies $\langle x^{**}, x_i^* \rangle \rightarrow \langle x^{**}, x^* \rangle$ then, according to Proposition 3 and the remark after it, we are done. Since the functionals defining $|\| \cdot \| \|$ are $w^* - 1$ sc, the conditions (8) imply that

for every
$$n \in \mathbb{N}$$
, $\lim_{i} \sup_{k,l \ge n} |\langle x_k - x_l, x_i^* \rangle| = \sup_{k,l \ge n} |\langle x_k - x_l, x^* \rangle|.$ (9)

Take $\varepsilon > 0$. Since (x_n) converges to x^{**} in the w^{**} topology, then it is a w-Cauchy sequence, so there is N such that

$$\sup_{l\geq N} |\langle x^{**} - x_l, x^* \rangle| < \varepsilon, \tag{10}$$

and also

$$\sup_{k,l\geq N} |\langle x_k - x_l, x^* \rangle| < \varepsilon.$$
(11)

By the w*-convergence of (x_n^*) to x^* ,

$$\exists I_1, i \ge I_1, \quad |\langle x_N, x_i^* - x^* \rangle| \le \varepsilon.$$
(12)

From (11) and (9), there is $I_2 \ge I_1$ such that

$$i \ge I_2 \Rightarrow \sup_{k,l\ge N} |\langle x_k - x_l, x_i^* \rangle| < \varepsilon,$$

and so

$$i \ge I_2 \Rightarrow \sup_{l \ge N} |\langle x^{**} - x_l, x_i^* \rangle| \le \varepsilon,$$
(13)

By using (10), (12) and (13) we deduce that for $i \ge I_2$ it holds

$$|\langle x^{**}, x^* - x_i^* \rangle| < 3\varepsilon,$$

as we wanted to show.

19

Proof of Theorem 21. If X is not weakly sequantially complete, we can find an element $x^{**} \in X^{**} \setminus X$ which is the w*-limit of a sequence in X. From Theorem 22 there exists an equivalent norm $||| \cdot |||$ on X such that the corresponding norm $||| \cdot |||$ on X** is differitiable at every point $x \in X$ in the direction x^{**} . Assume that $A(X, ||| \cdot |||)$ contains a norm-interior point x_0^* . Since the set of norm attaining functionals is a cone, we can assume that $x_0^* \in S_{(X^*, ||\cdot|||)}$. Choose $x_0 \in S_{(X, ||\cdot|||)}$ such that $\langle x_0, x_0^* \rangle = 1$. Observe now that $\langle x^{**}, x^{***} \rangle = \langle x^{**}, x_0^* \rangle$ for all $x^{***} \in$ $\in \partial ||| \cdot ||| (x_0) \subset S_{(X^{***}, ||\cdot|||)}$. It is enough to use (2) to get $dist_{||\cdot|||}(x^{**}, X) = 0$, a contradiction.

In view of Theorem 21 it is natural to ask what is the situation in the nonreflexive weakly sequentially complete case. The prototype of such a space is ℓ_1 . The following result holds:

Theorem 23. ([AM, Thm. 1]) There is an equivalent norm $\|\cdot\|$ in $(\ell_1, \|\cdot\|_1)$ such that $A^0(\ell_1, \|\cdot\|) = \emptyset$.

In fact, the set $B = B_{\ell_1} + A$, where B_{ℓ_1} is the closed unit ball for the usual norm in ℓ_1 and

$$A = \overline{\operatorname{conv}}^{w^*} \Big\{ \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \lambda_n \frac{1}{2^n} e_{\sigma(n)} : |\lambda_n| = 1, \ \forall n, \ \sigma : \mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{N} \text{ injective} \Big\}$$

is the unit ball of a norm satisfying the previous condition.

The above result can be used in order to get the following extension:

Theorem 24. ([AM, Thm. 2]) Let $(X, \|\cdot\|)$ be a Banach space with an isomorphic copy of ℓ_1 . Then X has an equivalent norm p such that $A^0(X, p) \neq \emptyset$.

Proof. Consider ℓ_1 as a vector subspace of X, so $\|\cdot\|$ induces on ℓ_1 a norm (again denoted by $\|\cdot\|$) which is equivalent to $\|\cdot\|_1$, the canonical norm of ℓ_1 . Then $(\ell_1, \|\cdot\|)^* = (\ell_{\infty}, \|\cdot\|)$, where $\|\cdot\|$ denotes also the dual norm both on X^* and on ℓ_{∞} (in the last case, a norm equivalent to $\|\cdot\|_{\infty}$. Denote by $q: X^* \to \ell_{\infty}$ the quotient mapping. Now, $c_0 \subset \ell_{\infty}$ is a norming subspace for $(\ell_1, \|\cdot\|)$ (not necessarily 1-norming), hence, by [FHH, Exercise V.5.22], $N := q^{-1}(c_0)$ is a norming subspace of X^* for $(X, \|\cdot\|)$, in particular w^* -dense in X^* . We can define on X an equivalent norm $|\cdot|$ in such a way that N is 1-norming for $(X, |\cdot|)$; precisely, $B(X, |\cdot|) := \overline{B(X, \|\cdot\|)}^{\sigma(X,N)}$. The topology $\sigma(X, N)$ on X of the pointwise convergence on N obviously induces on ℓ_1 the topology $\sigma(\ell_1, c_0)$. Let $\||\cdot\|\|$ be an equivalent norm on ℓ_1 such that the set $A(\ell_1, \||\cdot\||)$ has an empty interior. Such a norm exists by Theorem 23, and it is a dual norm. We may and do assume that $B(\ell_1, \||\cdot\||) \supset B(X, |\cdot|) \cap \ell_1$. Observe that $B(\ell_1, \||\cdot\||)$ is $\sigma(\ell_1, c_0)$ -compact (and so $\sigma(X, N)$ -compact), and that $B(X, |\cdot|)$ is $\sigma(X, N)$ -closed. It is trivial then that

$$W := B(\ell_1, ||| |||) + B(X, |\cdot|)$$

is a bounded absolutely convex and $\sigma(X,N)$ -closed subset of X containing the closed unit ball $B(X, |\cdot|)$, and so it is the closed unit ball of an equivalent norm p on X. Now, let $x^* \in A(X, p)$. It is clear that its restriction $q(x^*)$ to ℓ_1 belongs to $A(\ell_1, ||\cdot||)$. Assume for a moment that A(X, p) had a non-empty interior. The restriction mapping $q: (X^*, p) \to (\ell_{\infty}, ||\cdot||)$ is continuous and onto, so an open mapping, taking open sets onto open sets. We should have then that $A(\ell_1, ||\cdot||)$ has a non-empty interior, a contradiction.

The previous result, Theorem 21 and Rosenthal's ℓ_1 Theorem can be used as the main ingredients to deduce validity of Namioka's conjecture mentioned in 4.2.1 in the case of separable Banach spaces.

Theorem 25. ([AM, Thm. 3]) If a separable Banach space X is not reflexive then it has an equivalent norm $\||\cdot\||$ such that $A(X, \||\cdot\||)$ has an empty norm-interior.

The spaces which can be renormed such that the set of norm attaining functionals has an empty norm-interior have the following stability property:

Proposition 26. Assume that $(X, \|\cdot\|)$ is a Banach space and $Y \subset X$ is a complemented subspace of $(X, \|\cdot\|)$ such that Y admits an equivalent norm $\||\cdot\||$ satisfying that $A(Y, \||\cdot\||)$ has an empty norm-interior. Then $\||\cdot\||$ can be extended to a norm $\||\cdot\||$ in X with the same property.

Proof. Let $X = Y \bigoplus M$ be a topological direct sum. Define a norm on X by

$$|||y + m|| := \max \{ ||y||, ||m|| \} \quad (y \in Y, m \in M).$$

This norm induces $\||\cdot\||$ on Y. Of course, $X^* = Y^* \bigoplus M^*$ and the dual norm is given by

$$|||y^* + m^*||| = |||y^*||| + ||m^*||$$
 $(y^* \in Y^*, m^* \in M^*),$

where we used the same symbol to denote a norm and the corresponding dual norm. A functional $x^* = y^* + m^*$ attains its norm if and only if both y^* and m^* attain their corresponding norm, that is

$$A(X, ||| \cdot |||) = A(Y, ||| \cdot |||) + A(M, ||| \cdot |||).$$

Since any ball in X^* contains a product of balls of Y^* and M^* and, by assumption, the set $A(Y, ||\cdot||)$ has an empty norm-interior, then the subset $A(X, ||\cdot||)$ has also an empty norm-interior.

Recall that a Banach space X is weakly Lindelöf determined (in short, WLD), if (B_{X^*}, w^*) is a Corson compact, i.e., a compact subspace of a product of lines such that every element has only a countable number of non-zero coordinates. Every weakly compactly generated Banach space (i.e., a Banach space with a weakly compact linearly dense subset) is WLD. It is well known that a WLD Banach space X has the *separable complementation property*, i.e., the fact that for every separable subspace $Y \subset X$ there exists a separable space Z such that $Y \subset Z \subset X$ and Z is complemented in X (for these concepts and properties see, for example, [Fa, Chap. 7] and [FHH, Chap. 12]).

The following result extends the class of spaces where Namioka's conjecture holds true:

Theorem 27. If a non-reflexive Banach space X has the separable complementation property, in particular, if X is WLD, then it has an equivalent norm $\||\cdot\||$ such that $A(X, \||\cdot\||)$ has an empty norm-interior.

Proof. If X is not reflexive, it contains, by the Eberlein-Šmulyan Theorem, a non-reflexive and separable closed subspace Y. There exists then a complemented and separable subspace Z containing Y, so in particular Z is not reflexive either. It follows from Theorem 25 that Z can be renormed with a norm $\||\cdot\||$ such that $A(Z, \||\cdot\||)$ has an empty norm-interior. We apply now Proposition 26 to define a norm $\||\cdot\||$ on X with the same property.

Remark. There are Banach spaces X with the separable complementation property and without a Projectional Resolution of the Identity; in particular, they are not WLD, see [DGZ, Definition VI.1.1 and Example VI.8.6].

5. Open Problems

There were several questions disseminated along this paper. We collect all of them below.

- 1. Is Namioka's conjecture true in the case of a general (non-separable) Banach space?
- 2. Let $(X, \|\cdot\|)$ be a Banach space such that every $x^* \in X^*$ attains the supremum on $B_{(X,\|\cdot\|)}$. Prove, without using James Theorem, that for every equivalent norm on X the same is true.
- 3. Let $(X, \|\cdot\|)$ be a Banach space with a non-dentable unit ball. Is the set $A(X, \|\cdot\|)$ 1st category?
- 4. Let $(X, \|\cdot\|)$ be a Banach space. Assume that for every nonempty norm-closed, bounded and convex subset A of X^* there exists $x \in X$ which attains its supremum on A. Is X Asplund?

Acknowledgement. We would like to express our thanks to Prof. Marian Fabian for his valuable remarks, to an anonymous referee for his/her careful reading of the manuscript (suggesting several changes to improve its final version) and to the organizers of the 34th Winter School in Abstract Analysis for their kind invitation.

References

- [AM] ACOSTA, M. D., AND MONTESINOS, V., On a problem of I. Namioka on norm-attaining functionals. To appear.
- [AR1] ACOSTA, M. D., AND RUIZ-GALÁN, M., New characterizations of the reflexivity in terms of the set of norm attaining functionals. Canad. Math. Bull. 41 (1998), 279-289.
- [AR2] ACOSTA, M. D., AND RUIZ-GALÁN, M., Norm attaining operators and reflexivity. Rend. Circ. Mat. Palermo 56 (1998), 171-177.
- [ACGZ] ARON, R., CARDWELL, A., GARCÍA, D. AND ZALDUENDO, I., A multilinear Phelps' Lemma. To appear.
- [BP] BISHOP, E. AND PELPS, R. R., A proof that every Banach space is subreflexive. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 67 (1961), 97-98.
- [Bou] BOURGIN, R. D., Geometric Aspects of Convex Sets with the Radon-Nikodym Property. LNM 993. Springer-Verlag, 1983.
- [DGS] DEBS, G., GODEFROY, G. AND SAINT-RAYMOND, J., Topological properties of the set of norm-attaining linear functionals. Canad. J. Math. 47 (1995), 318-329.
- [DGZ] DEVILLE, R., GODEFROY, G. AND ZIZLER, V., Smoothness and Renormings in Banach Spaces. Pitman Monographs and Surveys in Pure and Applied Mathematics 64. 1993.
- [Dieg] DIESTEL, J., Geometry of Banach spaces. Selected topics. Lecture Notes in Math. 485, Springer-Verlag, 1975.
- [Dies] DIESTEL, J., Sequences and Series in Banach spaces. GTM 92. Springer-Verlag, 1984.
- [DF] DIESTEL, J. AND FAIRES, B., On vector measures. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 198 (1974), 253-271.
- [Fa] FABIAN, M., Gâteaux differentiability of convex functions and topology. Weak Asplund Spaces. John Wiley & Sons, New York (1997).
- [FHH] FABIAN, M., HABALA, P., HAJEK, P., PELANT, J., MONTESINOS, V. AND ZIZLER, V., Functional analysis and infinite dimensional geometry, Canad. Math. Soc. Books in Mathematics, 8, Springer-Verlag, New York (2001).
- [FMZ] FABIAN, M., MONTESINOS, V., AND ZIZLER, V., Smoothness and weak compactness. Unpublished manuscript. Lotha, January 2002.
- [F] FLORET, K., Weakly compact sets. Lecture Notes in Math., Springer-Verlag 801, 1980.
- [GGS] GILES, J. R., GREGORY, D. A., AND SIMS, B., Characterisation of normed linear spaces with Mazur's intersection property. Bull. Austral. Math. Soc. 18 (1978), 105-123.
- [Gom] GODEFROY, G., Metric characterization of first Baire class linear forms and octahedral norms. Studia Math. 95 (1989), 1–15.
- [Gos] GODEFROY, G., Some applications of Simon's inequality. Serdica Mat. J. 26 (2000), 59-78.
- [Jaa] JAMES, R. C., Reflexivity and the supremum of linear functionals. Ann. of Math. 66 (1957), 159-169.
- [Jai] JAMES, R. C., Characterizations of reflexivity. Studia Math. 23 (1963/1964), 205-216.
- [Jat] JAMES, R. C., Weakly compact sets. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 113 (1964), 129-140.
- [Ja72] JAMES, R. C., Reflexivity and the supremum of linear functionals. Israel J. Math. 13 (1972), 289-300.
- [JiM] JIMÉNEZ-SEVILLA, M. AND MORENO, J. P., A note on norm attaining functionals. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 126 (1998), 1989-1997.
- [KMS] KENDEROV, P., MOORS, W. B. AND SCIFFER, S., Norm attaining functionals on C(T). Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 126 (1998), 153-157.
- [KI] KLEE, V. L., Some characterizations of reflexivity. Revista de Ciencias 52 (1950), 15-23.
- [Loq] LOMONOSOV, V., On the Bishop-Phelps Theorem in complex spaces. Quaest. Math. 23 (2000), 187-191.

- [Loi] LOMONOSOV, V., A counterexample to the Bishop-Phelps Theorem in complex spaces. Israel J. Math. 115 (2000), 25-28.
- [Loj] LOMONOSOV, V., The Bishop-Phelps Theorem fails for uniform non-selfadjoint dual operator algebras. J. Funct. Anal. 185 (2001), 214-219.
- [Mor] MORILLON, M., A new proof of James' sup theorem, Extracta Mathematicae, 20, 3, (2005), 261-271.
- [Oj] OJA, E., A proof of the Simons inequality. Acta Comment. Univ. Tartu. Math. No. 2 (1998), 27-28.
- [Ph] PHELPS, R. R., A representation theorem for bounded convex sets. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 11 (1960), 976-983.
- [Ph1] PHELPS, R. R., Convex Functions, Monotone Operators and Differentiability. LNM 1364. Springer-Verlag, 1989.
- [Ro] ROSENTHAL, H. P., A characterization of Banach spaces containing ℓ_1 . Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. **71** (1974), 2411–2413.